ROCKHILL Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes

SOUTH CAROLINA

June 17, 2025

A public hearing of the Zoning Board of Appeals was held Tuesday, June 17, 2025, at 6
p.m. in Council Chambers at City Hall, 155 Johnston Street, Rock Hill, South Carolina

MEMBERS PRESENT Charlotte Brown, Barry Chitwood, Matt Crawford, James
Hawthorne, Nancy Templeton, and Chad Williams

MEMBERS ABSENT Nathaniel Robinson
STAFF PRESENT Amy Britz, Ainsley Ellis, and Ryan Hammond
1. Call to Order
Chair Crawford called the meeting to order at 6 p.m.
2. Recite the Pledge of Allegiance.
3. Approval of minutes of the April 15, 2025, meeting.

Mr. Williams made a motion to approve the minutes as submitted. Ms. Brown
seconded, and the motion carried by a vote of 6-0 (Robinson absent).

4. Approval of orders of the April 15, 2025, meeting.

Mr. Williams made a motion to approve the minutes as submitted. Ms. Templeton
seconded, and the motion carried by a vote of 6-0 (Robinson absent).

5. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS

a. Appeal Z-2025-08: Request by Charlie Vroon for a special exception for
residential infill use at 407 Charlotte Avenue. The property is zoned
Neighborhood Office (NO). Tax map number 629-06-07-003.

Ryan Hammond, Planer Il, presented the staff report.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether the applicant can legally give himself an
easement since he owns both properties. Mr. Hammond said that he can record
that easement for the driveways in case he sells one of the properties.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether it would be labeled as an egress or ingress
easement. Mr. Hammond confirmed that he would have an access easement
and two parking space easements. The proposed use only requires six, so they
will add two more parking spaces.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether a utility provision would be included in the
easement. Mr. Hammond confirmed that it would be but noted that he does not
anticipate any utilities going through the property.

Mr. Hawthorne asked how sewer would get out of the new development and
back to existing sewer line. Mr. Hammond said there is sewer all along Union
Avenue, so there would be a tap direct to the property.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether there will be individual sewer taps for each unit
or one common sewer lines. Mr. Hammond said he assumes they will have their
own. Each unit will have its own water meter and electric meter, so he assumes

Page 1 of 5



Rock Hill Zoning Board of Appeals June 17, 2025

it will be the same for sewer.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether those units will be for sale or for lease. Mr.
Hammond confirmed that it will be for lease because they are rentals.

Ms. Templeton asked whether the driveway is coming from around the back and
confirmed there are four parking spaces within the property and parking along
the bottom. Mr. Hammond answered that the driveway comes in from Charlotte
Avenue and the parking lot is at the rear.

Mr. Hawthorne confirmed there are six parking spaces behind the development.
He asked whether six spaces will be enough for the four units. Mr. Hammond
said that the applicant required eight and that the applicant will be getting an
easement for an additional two parking spaces on the adjacent property.

Chair Crawford asked about fencing requirements. Mr. Hammond said a fence
is to be provided on the rear of the property against the adjacent single-family
homes. The fence along 415 Charlotte Ave. is already an existing buffer. He
said that zoning code does not require a fence against the other infill uses.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether the trash area is fixed and whether residents will
have to walk the trash down themselves or whether there will be roll carts. Mr.
Hammond confirmed roll carts would be used and there will be a sidewalk along
the front. He said that dumpsters would also be allowed.

There being no further questions from the board or staff, Chair Crawford opened
the floor to the applicant.

Charlie Vroon, owner of the subject properties, of 1491 Canter Ln., York, SC,
thanked Mr. Hammond and Ms. Britz for all their help. He said the plan is to
lease these properties and that he owns several rentals in Rock Hill.

Mr. Hawthorne asked about the timeline for this development.

Mr. Vroon said he has a builder lined up once this is approved. He said the goal
would be to start construction within the next three to four months.

Chair Crawford opened the floor for public comment.

Leland Greeley, 620 Aiken Ave., Rock Hill, SC, spoke in opposition. He stated
that he lives in front of the apartments that were put up last year. He said there
are four proposed units that are all the same size, but with different number of
bedrooms. He is concerned with the number of people that will be living in these.
The driveway is only thirteen feet wide and has one-way access. He stated there
will be no grass and only a sidewalk that will be right next to the front door. He
was also concerned with the appearance of the exterior. He said it will be
nothing but tenant buildings and concrete. He is also concerned with the water
runoff off College Avenue, which is not discussed in the site plan. He said that
the previous request is nothing but dirt and rock for the parking. He was also
concerned with the traffic on Charlotte Avenue. He asked that this plan not be
approved.

Mr. Williams asked whether he has looked over the findings and whether he
disagrees.

Mr. Greeley said that he does disagree and does not see how it fits the

Page 2 of 5



Rock Hill Zoning Board of Appeals June 17, 2025

neighborhood. He stated it will cause parking, noise, runoff, etc.

Pierre Charlaron, 410 College Ave., Rock Hill, SC, said that the City said
duplexes were compatible, but this plan is not a duplex. He was also concerned
about the stormwater and runoff problems on College Avenue’s side. Chair
Crawford confirmed that it is officially listed as a quadruplex in the staff report.

As a rebuttal, Mr. Vroon confirmed that they contracted stormwater plans for all
their developments, and they do plan on paving both parking lots. He is just
waiting on approvals from the boards and then he will continue with the
contractors.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether he is putting in asphalt for the parking spaces
and concrete for the shared driveway.

Mr. Vroon confirmed and said that they may be doing concrete for the whole
area because of pricing. He assures that there will be some form of paving.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether there would be any type of area between the
sidewalk and the shared access space. Mr. Vroon said it will be a raised curve.
It will be elevated, but there will not be a green space because the property does
not have room for it.

Mr. Williams asked whether the existing trees will be removed.

Mr. Vroon said they will be putting up privacy bushes between that fence and
the parking.

Mr. Williams asked staff about how stormwater would be addressed. Mr.
Hammond stated that this is currently a conceptual site plan and that if the
request is approved, Mr. Vroon will start submitting the final plans for staff to
review.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether parking spaces will need to be eliminated and
address stormwater. Mr. Hammond confirmed that in the event of stormwater
issues, the impervious surfaces would need to be eliminated, meaning that they
would have to start taking away some units. There is no anticipation that density
would increase.

Mr. Williams asked whether he has any concerns about the structure being
compatible with the surrounding architecture. Mr. Hammond said no; the Board
of Historic Review has already approved the architecture and there is a mix of
buildings in the area.

Mr. Chitwood made a motion to approve the special exception for residential
infill use at 407 Charlotte Ave. The motion was seconded by Chair Crawford.

The motion was not approved by a vote of 3-3 (Robinson absent).

Mr. Hawthorne noted that the design cannot meet the required finding about
environmental impacts.

b. Appeal Z-2025-09: Request by Daniel Roberston for a variance to fence
height at 249 Johnston Street. This property is zoned Downtown (DWTN).
Tax number 627-17-01-007.

Ryan Hammond, Planner Il, presented the staff report.

Page 3 of 5



Rock Hill Zoning Board of Appeals June 17, 2025

Mr. Hawthorne asked for confirmation that the fence is on the property line and
asked whether there will be enough room for the shadowbox on the back side.
Mr. Hammond confirmed that the fence is located along the property line and
stated that there is space for the shadowbox.

There being no further questions from the board or staff, Chair Crawford opened
the floor to the applicant.

Rachel Chwaszczewski, 2764 Pleasant Rd., Fort Mill, SC was here on behalf of
Daniel Robertson to answer any questions.

Mr. Hawthorne asked when the fence was built. She said within the last 3 to 6
months.

Chair Crawford opened the floor for public comment. There were none.

Mr. Williams made a motion to approve the variance to the fence height at 249
Johnston Street. The motion was seconded by Ms. Brown. The motion was
approved by a vote of 6-0 (Robinson absent).

Mr. Williams noted that the property has extraordinary and exceptional
conditions in that no other properties border this same service station and also
noted that the fence height would not be detrimental to anyone involved.

c. Appeal Z-2025-10: Request by Patricia McCullogh for a variance to
locational standards for a carport at 732 Finley Road. This property is
zoned Single-Family 5 (SF-5). Tax map number 598-09-04-011.

Amy Britz, Planner |, presented the staff report.

Mr. Williams asked whether there is a requirement that a driveway must go to a
carport. Ms. Britz said there is a requirement, and that the applicant will be
installing a driveway.

Mr. Hawthorne asked whether the new driveway area would come off the existing
driveway. Ms. Britz confirmed that it would.

There being no further questions from the board, Chair Crawford opened the
floor to the applicant.

Patricia McCullogh, 732 Finley Rd., Rock Hill, SC, was present to answer
questions. There were none.

Chair Crawford opened the floor for public comment. There were none.
Mr. Hawthorne noted stormwater and utility conflicts.

Ms. Brown made a motion to approve variance to locational standards for a
carport at 732 Finley Rd. The motion was seconded by Mr. Hawthorne. The
motion was approved by a vote of 6-0 (Robinson absent).

Ms. Brown noted that the property has extraordinary and exceptional conditions
due to the side yard utility box and the tree.

6. OTHER BUSINESS.
a. Continuing Education
b. Introduced new Zoning Division Assistant, Ainsley Ellis

Page 4 of 5



Rock Hill Zoning Board of Appeals June 17, 2025

7. Adjourn.

There being no further business, Mr. Hawthorne made a motion to adjourn. The motion

was seconded by Mr. Chitwood and approved by a vote of 6-0 (Robinson absent). The
meeting adjourned at 7:04 p.m.

Page 5 of 5



